DURHAM

City in the County of Durham

Bishop Hugh of Le Puiset, in the year 1179 or 1180, granted the first Charter to the City of Durham, with all the free customs of Newcastle.   It was confirmed by a Bull of Pope Alexander 111.

Bishop Pilkington, on the 30th January 1565, granted a Charter to the City.

Bishop Matthew, in 1602, granted a Charter of Incorporation, by which the Burgesses and inhabitants were constituted a Body Politic and Corporate, consisting of a Mayor, Aldermen and Commonalty.   This Charter was confirmed on the 14th February 1605 by King James.

Bishop Crewe, in 1684 granted a Charter in substitution for that granted by Bishop Matthew.

Bishop Egerton, in 1780, after ten years of dispute with the Corporation, granted a new Charter, the elective provisions of which remained in force until the Municipal Corporations Act, 1835.

In 1984-85 the City Council in Durham needed to promote a local Bill in Parliament.  Prompted by the Town Clerk and Chief Executive, Mr Roger Morris, responding to the advice of Mr Tom Heron, Chairman of the Wardens of the Durham Guilds, a clause was included to clarify and modernise the provisions relating to Durham Freemen.   This became section 8 of the Durham City Council Act and came into force on the 1st January 1986.

There had been no previous local legislation about Freemen in Durham, and it was thought that some of the traditions, unless judiciously adapted, would be likely to decline rapidly.   The number of resident Freemen recorded at that time - around 80- was static and becoming reliant on fewer active individuals.   The number in 1300 had been 230.

Section 8 accordingly restated the qualifications for admission, and lowered the age threshold to eighteen from twenty one in keeping with the reduced age of majority under the general law.

Admission , which is still restricted to males, is now by patrimony ( son of a Freeman, or husband of a Freeman’s daughter);  guild servitude ( three years’ whole-time apprenticeship to a Freeman employer) and Durham Servitude ( three years’ whole-time apprenticeship “ in one or more trades in the City whether or not such a trade is the trade of an extant guild”.   Other provisions removed the possibility of a break in the chain of inheritance or claim because of someone’s death, and abolished the Clerk’s fees.  However, despite the formal abolition of the right to claim the traditional “candle money” ( the tradition of offering 10p to pay for the lighting of the Guildhall during freedom ceremonies ) is still practised.

An interesting innovation in the 1985 Act was section 8(4) about what were informally called “Gentlemen Freemen”.   The Guilds and Freemen were given discretion to require admission of any male over eighteen years whom they wished.    This provision was first exercised on the 3rd February 1986, and was intended to allow the Guilds to admit someone accidentally excluded by an uncurable break in the chain of heredity, or to honour someone they considered deserving of the honour, which once conferred entitles others to chain inheritance or apprenticeship freedoms from it in the usual way.   Such freedoms - there have been about half a dozen so far - are again on the basis of three “calls” on the same day, shortening the usual requirement for prospective freedom candidates to be called on three separate quarterly Guild days.

Similar provisions to section 8(4) were later enacted as section 4(2) of Northampton Act 1988, where Mr Roger Morris had in 1986 become Chief Executive and Town Clerk.

At the admission ceremony, three Guild calls are made for the Freemen and a candidate’s presence is essential upon the third call.   The Mayor of the City is present together with a number of Aldermen, also the Town Clerk.   If the Mayor is not present ( which is unusual), three Aldermen must be in attendance to conduct the ceremony.   The Town clerk administers the oath to the candidate, after which he receives a scroll admitting him a Freeman to his allotted Company.   At the conclusion the Janitor of the Guildhall produces to the Chairman of the Wardens of the eight companies a number of candles and the Janitor receives 10p as “candle money”. This relates to the days when lighting was by candle.

There are herbage rights upon land called The Sands, Durham, covering approximately eight acres.   This is let occasionally for fairs, circuses and suchlike.

Affairs are managed by a body of Trustees.

A Preis of SHORT AGREEMENT between Trustees of Freemen and Mayor, Aldermen and citizens of the U.D.C. reads:


AGREED to let the Sands for a public recreation ground with reservation to 
Freemen one full week before and one full week after Easter Sunday for sports


and pastimes and space for erecting a show, theatre, menagerie, circus or 


place of similar entertainment.


TO OPERATE from 23.11.1898 subject to six months calendar notice.


Rent £5 p.a. and Council to pay rates and taxes except landlord’s property tax.


In addition £1 in respect of fairs “now held”.


Sealed 3.1.1898

The only Companies still existing are the Barbers, Butchers, Cordwainers, Curriers, Drapers, Joiners, Masons and Plumbers.    The eight Wardens of these Companies meet once a month.

A roll is published each 12 months of Freemen who are residing within the City boundaries.

A large number of Freemen’s records are now deposited with Durham University Library and Durham County Records Office.

As from 1st April 1974 and on the first Guild Day ( 6th May 1974) the Mayor of Durham admitted the first new Freemen under the new charter.   The Chief Executive Officer administered the Oath and handed over the scroll.    The new Durham City Council carry on all the old traditions.
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